IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA
Plaintiff-Below, Respondent

v.

JASON SWINDLER
Defendant-Below, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF
JACKSON COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA
CIVIL ACTION NOS. CC-18-2020-F-33

OPENING BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER

Submitted By:

Ronald N. Walters Jr. (WVSB ID No. 13736)
Beverly Hall (WVSB ID No. 13876)
Walters Law Firm, PLLC
16 Capitol Street
Charleston, West Virginia 25301
Phone: 304-391-8002
Facsimile: 304-342-8342
Ron@WaltersLawWV.com
Bev@WaltersLawWV.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

On appeal Petitioner asserts the Circuit Court below erred as follows:

1. The Circuit Court erred under West Virginia Code §61-11-19 when it arraigned Mr. Swindler on the first day of the Term of Court following the Term of Court he was convicted of the triggering offense in, therefore rendering the recidivist enhancement void.

2. The application of the West Virginia Recidivist Act to this matter, where Mr. Swindler's current past qualifying offenses were not inherently violent, is unconstitutional as it violates the proportionality requirements of both the United States Constitution and the West Virginia Constitution, as applied.

3. The specific delineation of offenses under the newly revised West Virginia Recidivist Act is facially unconstitutional as it violates the proportionality requirements of both the United States Constitution and the West Virginia Constitution.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about February 25, 2020, Petitioner Jason Swindler ("Mr. Swindler") was indicted on a ten (10) Count indictment charging Mr. Swindler with three (3) counts of felony Breaking and Entering pursuant to West Virginia Code §61-3-12; three (3) counts of felony Grand Larceny pursuant to West Virginia Code §61-3-13; one (1) count of felony Attempt to Commit a Felony, to wit, violating West Virginia Code §61-10-31, pursuant to West Virginia Code §61-11-8; three (3) counts of misdemeanor Breaking and Entering pursuant to West Virginia Code §61-3-30. Appx. P. 31–36.

The State alleged that during the course of twelve days in January 2020, a series of break-ins had occurred in Jackson County, West Virginia. Appx. P. 425. The State sought to prove that on or about January 11, 2020 there was a break-in at EPC services in Millwood, West Virginia at which time a mini-excavator was stolen worth approximately \$48,000. *Id.* In addition to the excavator missing, the owner of the lot noticed the gate to the yard had been damaged. Appx. P. 428. Then on or about January 22, 2020, tools and window air conditioners worth more than \$1,000 were stolen from the Sears Building in Fairplain, West Virginia. Appx. P. 426. The same day, the State alleged that “thousands of dollars’ worth of metal” was stolen “from Energy Measurement & Control” in Sandyville, Jackson County, West Virginia.” *Id.* Then on or about January 23, 2020, the State alleged that Mr. Swindler attempted to steal several items from Sears. *Id.* The State further alleged that this offense amounted to only an attempt, as Mr. Swindler was apprehended at the store and stopped before he could complete the theft. *Id.*

The State further alleged that on or about January 22, 2020, Mr. Swindler sold 1500 pounds of metal scrap to a recycling center in Nitro, West Virginia for a payment of \$300. Appx. P. 434. Doing this, just before breaking into the Sears in Jackson County and being apprehended.

On June 8, 2021, trial began in the trial court below for Mr. Swindler on all ten counts. Appx. P. 354.

Upon the close of the State’s case in chief, counsel for Mr. Swindler raised orally a Rule 29 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure Motion for Judgment of Acquittal. Appx. P. 627. Mr. Swindler’s counsel raised the issue that the truck in question captured on video at the EPC yard and at Energy Management “is not Jason Swindler’s truck” supporting this argument with the position that the truck shown on video had “no blemishes” where as law enforcement investigating this matter had described Mr. Swindler’s truck as an “old chevy truck that had seen

its better days.” *Id.* Further, there had been no pictures of Mr. Swindler’s truck introduced. To permit objective comparison. *Id.*

Counsel argued the State’s argument did not make sense as the series of events would require Mr. Swindler to essentially be “superhuman.” Appx. P. 628. That the State offered no evidence of “what was done with the air conditioner, tools, and Energy Management materials” which were stolen. *Id.* That tools found at an acquaintance of Mr. Swindler’s home could not be traced back to Sears. Appx. P. 629. Counsel argued that the State’s evidence also showed that the time between when Mr. Swindler allegedly passed a store with the mini-excavator and him allegedly returning without it, would not have been a realistic time frame as “an expert” testified that such an unloading would take far more time. *Id.*

Broadly, Counsel argued the State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Swindler had committed these offenses. Appx. P. 633. The Court summarily denied the motion. Appx. P. 633-34. After inquiring as to whether Mr. Swindler intended to testify—which he did not—Mr. Swindler’s counsel informed the court he did not have any evidence to proffer. Appx. P. 636.

The State in closing argued a chronological summary of events based upon the evidence presented at trial. Appx. P. 671. The State laid out that on January 13, 2020, the owner of EPC testified he went to his lot and “noticed the gate to the lot to be broken and open in the wrong direction,” and this destruction was evidenced by exhibits 1 & 2. *Id.* That Deputy Varney investigated and that he was advised the mini-excavator had been stolen. *Id.* The Deputy then uncovered the location of the mini-excavator as it had a GPS locator on it, found footage along the route between that location and EPC and interviewed parties. *Id.* The Deputy, after speaking to the property owner, then sought out video footage from the

surrounding area and finds surveillance footage showing the mini-excavator being hauled by a truck and footage of it returning without the mini-excavator. *Id.* at 672–73. The State dismissed the defense theory that, where the surveillance footage indicated a 20-minute gap between the truck having the mini-excavator and not having it, that it would have been impossible for Mr. Swindler to unload the same in that amount of time. *Id.* at 673.

Next the State discussed the evidence of the theft of the scrap metal, having put on still frames from surveillance footage that they argued showed Mr. Swindler moving about the property. *Id.* at 674. As to the value of the items stolen, the State called Mark Fisher, owner of Energy Measurement and Control, who assessed the total value of the metal stolen at “3-to \$4,000.” *Id.* at 542. Finally, the State argued the evidence, in the form of testimony of law enforcement, forms the basis for the charge of breaking and entering and attempted grand larceny at the Sears location. *Id.* at 675.

At the conclusion of a three-day trial on June 10, 2021, Mr. Swindler was found guilty on all ten counts of the indictment. *Id.* at 705–06. On or about June 15, 2021, the State of West Virginia filed a recidivist information against Mr. Swindler. Appx. P. 012.

The State sought to prove that it was the same Mr. Swindler who had just been convicted in the current matter, as had been previously convicted of three prior felony offenses: (1) a 2009 conviction for possession with intent to deliver marijuana and driving while revoked for DUI, third offense (Jackson County Case No. 2009-F-80); (2) a 2009 conviction for breaking and entering a building other than a dwelling and an attempt to commit grand larceny (Jackson County Case No. 2009-F-81); and (3) a 2016 conviction for an attempt to commit a felony, specifically grand larceny (Jackson County Case No. 2016-F-31). Appx. P. 784.

On June 15, 2021, the Circuit Court ordered the same recidivist information filed. Appx. P. 012. The Circuit Court however did not bring Mr. Swindler before it for arraignment on the same until June 22, 2021. Appx. P. 216. Mr. Swindler was arraigned prior to the impaneling of the Grand Jury for the June 2021 term of court. *Id.* At that hearing, Defendant objected to the arraignment and sought dismissal because the date of his arraignment coincided with the beginning of the new June Term of Jackson County. *Id.*

Subsequently, Mr. Swindler was tried and found to be the same person who had previously been found guilty of three felony offenses. Appx. P. 253–55. The Court below then imposed sentence. Appx. P. 278. Specifically, sentences of not less than one (1) year nor more than ten (10) years for each breaking and entering charge and grand larceny charge; one year for each destruction of property charge, and of not less than one (1) year nor more than three (3) years on the Attempt to Commit Felony charge. *Id.* at 278–80. All to run consecutive. *Id.* at 280. Thus producing ten (10) years to sixty-six (66) years. *Id.* at 278–80. With the addition of the third recidivist enhancement, i.e. fifteen to life, Mr. Swindler is facing a sentence of twenty-five (25) years to life.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Swindler’s recidivist enhancement is void on its face as it is procedurally deficient. This Court has made clear that the application of the recidivist statute requires meticulous application of the procedural protections explicit in the Code. The failure to arraign Mr. Swindler in the same term within which he was found guilty of the triggering offense is fatal to the recidivist enhancement and it must therefore be declared void. *Quod erat demonstratum.*

Second, the application of the recidivist statute to Mr. Swindler's offenses violates the West Virginia's and United States' Constitution's prohibitions on cruel and unusual punishment where his offenses are clearly not violent in nature.

Finally, the recidivist statute, as newly constructed, is facially unconstitutional as it specifies broad offenses as triggering and qualifying offenses in such a way as it imposes such a harsh penalty for even minor offenses.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner respectfully request oral argument on the grounds that this matter meets the criteria set forth in Rule 20(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure and involves issues of first impression. *See* W. VA. R. APP. P. 20(a). Petitioner requests twenty minutes of time for argument as permitted by Rule 20(e). *See* W. VA. R. APP. P. 20(e).

V. ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court below must be reversed for the following reasons.

A. Standard of review

When faced with a constitutional challenge of a statute, this Court has stated

[i]n considering the constitutionality of a legislative enactment, courts must exercise due restraint, in recognition of the principle of the separation of powers in government among the judicial, legislative and executive branches. Every reasonable construction must be resorted to by the courts in order to sustain constitutionality, and any reasonable doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment in question. Courts are not concerned with questions relating to legislative policy. The general powers of the legislature, within constitutional limits, are almost plenary. In considering the constitutionality of an act of the legislature, the negation of legislative power must appear beyond reasonable doubt.

Syl. Pt. 1, *MacDonald v. City Hosp., Inc.*, 127 W. Va. 707, 715 S.E.2d 405 (2011). Where, this Court has reviewed a question of law or the interpretation of a statute, it has traditionally

reviewed the question under a *de novo* standard. See Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Davis*, 236 W. Va. 550, 782 S.E.2d 423 (2015).

B. The Arraignment of Mr. Swindler on the State’s Recidivist Information was Untimely, Thereby Depriving the Circuit Court of Jurisdiction.

Pursuant to West Virginia Code § 61-11-18(d), upon the conviction of an individual of a qualifying felony, twice previously having been convicted of qualifying offenses, “the person shall be sentenced to imprisonment in a state correctional facility for life” This section of the Code is immediately followed by a section laying out the procedural process by which the state may seek to impose a recidivist enhancement:

A prosecuting attorney, when he or she has knowledge of a former sentence or sentences to the penitentiary of any person convicted of an offense punishable by confinement in the penitentiary, may give information thereof to the court immediately upon conviction and before sentence. Said court shall, before expiration of the next term at which such person was convicted, cause such person or prisoner to be brought before it, and upon an information filed by the prosecuting attorney, setting forth the records of conviction and sentence, or convictions and sentences, as the case may be, and alleging the identity of the prisoner with the person named in each, shall require the prisoner to say whether he or she is the same person or not. If he or she says he or she is not, or remains silent, his or her plea, or the fact of his or her silence, shall be entered of record, and a jury shall be impaneled to inquire whether the prisoner is the same person mentioned in the several records. If the jury finds that he or she is not the same person, he or she shall be sentenced upon the charge of which he or she was convicted as provided by law; but if they find that he or she is the same, or after being duly cautioned if he or she acknowledged in open court that he or she is the same person, the court shall sentence him or her to such further confinement as is prescribed by §61-11-18 of this code on a second or third conviction as the case may be . . .

W. Va. Code § 61-11-19.

Importantly, Section 19 lays out temporal requirements:

- (1) “A prosecuting attorney . . . may give information thereof to the court ***immediately*** upon conviction and before sentence.”
- (2) The circuit court then must “before expiration of the next term at which such person was convicted” have the defendant “brought before it, and upon an information filed by the prosecuting attorney, setting forth the records of conviction[s] and sentence[s] . . . and alleging the identity of the prisoner with

the person named in each, shall require the prisoner to say whether he or she is the same person or not.”

If the person says they are not the same person, then a jury is impaneled and the matter of whether the person is the same person previously convicted of a qualifying offense, then the person is sentenced according to the dictates as laid out in the recidivist statute (W. Va. Code § 61-11-18). This Court has previously provided at the provisions of this section “are mandatory and must be fully complied with.” Syl. Pt. 1, *State ex rel. Albright v. Boles*, 149 W. Va. 561, 142 S.E.2d 725 (1965). Failure to comply with the precise requirements of West Virginia Code § 61-11-19, is fatal to the imposition of a recidivist enhancement:

Under the provisions of the habitual criminal statute, Code, 61-11-19, as amended, the trial court is required to cause the defendant to be confronted at the same term of court at which he is convicted of the principal offense with the previous convictions contained in the information filed by the prosecuting attorney, and if this provision of the statute is not complied with the additional sentence to the maximum statutory sentence for the principal offense is void.

Id. at Syl. Pt. 2. In *Boles*, Mr. Boles was arraigned on March 20, 1953 at which time he pled guilty to the counts contained in the indictment. *Boles*, 149 W. Va. at 562. The term ended on April 11, 1953. *Id.* He returned to Court on April 13, 1953, when the State “asked leave to file an information” for recidivist enhancement. *Id.* In that case, this Court stated “[t]he uncontradicted facts in this case clearly show that the petitioner was not confronted with the information at the same term at which he was convicted of the principal offense.” *State ex rel. Albright v. Boles*, 149 W. Va. 561, 563, 142 S.E.2d 725, 726 (1965). Further, the Defendant in *Boles*, “was here not confronted with the information of a previous conviction until the term after he had pleaded guilty.” *Id.* Based upon this, this Court deemed the recidivist enhancement void and unenforceable.

Here, Mr. Swindler was convicted on or about June 10, 2021 and the recidivist information was filed on or about June 15, 2021. Mr. Swindler was not formally arraigned on the recidivist

information charge until June 22, 2021. The West Virginia Trial Court Rule 2.05 provides that the beginning of terms of Court “shall commence...for the county of Jackson, on the fourth Tuesday in February, June and October...” *Rule 2.05, Trial Court Rules*. Specifically, the fourth Tuesday of June 2021 would have been June 22, 2021, meaning that the new term would have commenced on the day Mr. Swindler was arraigned on this recidivist information. The State countered that the arraignment occurred the same day as, and just before, the Grand Jury for the June 2021 Term of Court was impaneled, thus the new term had not yet begun. Appx. P. 917.

In support of the State’s position, it argued a series of 1800s cases essentially supporting the proposition that the beginning of the term is a flexible target: “A term of circuit Court of one county can, if necessary, prolong its session beyond 4 o’clock p.m. of the third day of the time fixed for a term in another county.” *First Nat. Bank v. Parsons*, 32 S.E. 271 (W.Va. 1898); and “A term of the circuit court does not necessarily begin on the day fixed by law, but may open before 4 o’clock in the afternoon of the third day thereafter...” *Boice v. State*, 1 W.Va. 329 (W.Va. 1865). However, the West Virginia Trial Court Rules are clear and unambiguous, the June Term of Jackson County Court begins “on the fourth Tuesday in . . . June.” West Virginia Code 61-11-19 is unambiguous and requires absolutely that: “The circuit court then must “before expiration of the next term at which such person was convicted” have the defendant “brought before it, and upon an information filed by the prosecuting attorney, setting forth the records of conviction[s] and sentence[s] . . . and alleging the identity of the prisoner with the person named in each, shall require the prisoner to say whether he or she is the same person or not.”

Accordingly, Mr. Swindler’s imposition of a life recidivist enhancement is void for want of procedural soundness and must be declared void by this Honorable Court.

C. The Recidivist Statute as Applied to Mr. Swindler is Violative of the West Virginia Constitution as it is Disproportionate to the Alleged Crimes Committed.

Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution “has an express statement of the proportionality principal: ‘Penalties shall be proportioned to the character and degree of the offense.’” Syl. Pt. 6, *State ex. rel. Boso v. Hedrick*, 182 W.Va. 701, 391 S.E.2d 614 (1990). This Court in *State v. Cooper* “[t]here are two tests to determine whether a sentence is so disproportionate to a crime that it violates our constitution. The first is subjective and asks whether the sentence for the particular crime shocks the conscience of the court and society. If a sentence is so offensive that it cannot pass a societal and judicial sense of justice, the inquiry need not proceed further.” 172 W. Va. 266, 272, 304 S.E.2d 851, 857 (1983). If the sentence passes the subjective prong of the test, the Court will then apply an objective test:

In determining whether a given sentence violates the proportionality principle found in Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, consideration is given to the nature of the offense, the legislative purpose behind the punishment, a comparison of the punishment with what would be inflicted in other jurisdictions, and a comparison with other offenses within the same jurisdiction.

Wanstreet, 166 W.Va. at Syl. Pt 5. Here, the sentence of life imprisonment with parole eligibility after serving 15 years represents a disproportionate and unconstitutional application of W. VA. CODE § 61-11-18(c) in violation of Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution and The Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. The West Virginia Constitution prohibits cruel and unusual punishment and establishes that a punishment must be proportional to the criminal conduct. The relevant portion of this provision states, “Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishment inflicted. **Penalties shall be proportioned to the character and degree of the offence.**” W. VA. CONST. art. III, § 5.

A recidivist life sentence was applied: "When it is determined . . . that such person shall have been twice before convicted in the United States of a crime punishable by confinement in a penitentiary, the person shall be sentenced to be confined in the state correctional facility for life." W. VA. CODE § 61-11-18(c).

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