IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-390

**SCA EFiled: Oct 10 2024
02:35PM EDT
Transaction ID 74731326**

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Petitioner,

v.

JASON ROBERT SWINDLER,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**Appeal from the June 1, 2023, Order
Circuit Court of Jackson County
Case No. CC-18-2020-F-33**

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**Holly M. Mestemacher (WV Bar # 7996)
Assistant Attorney General
State Capitol Complex
Building 6, Suite 406
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: hmestemacher@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833
*Counsel for Respondent***

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

When analyzing whether a sentence violates the proportionality requirement, the Court applies two tests. *State v. Mann*, 205 W. Va. 303, 314-15, 518 S.E.2d 60, 71-72 (1999). The first test is subjective and requires the Court to determine whether the sentence “shocks the conscience and offends fundamental notions of human dignity.” Syl. pt. 5, *State v. Cooper*, 172 W. Va. 266, 304 S.E.2d 851 (1983). In determining whether a sentence shocks the conscience, the Court considers all of the circumstances surrounding the offense, the information contained in the presentence investigation report, and findings made by the circuit court. *State v. Phillips*, 199 W. Va. 507, 513, 485 S.E.2d 676, 682 (1997). If the Court decides the sentence is so offensive that it cannot pass a societal and judicial sense of justice, then the Court need not proceed to the second test. *Mann*, 205 W. Va. at 315, 518 S.E.2d at 72. If, however, the sentence is not subjectively unconstitutional then the Court must examine the sentence using an objective test. *Id.* The objective test requires that the Court consider (1) the nature of the offense, (2) the legislative purpose behind the punishment, (3) how the punishment compares with what would be inflicted

in other jurisdictions, and (4) how the punishment compares to the punishments of other offenses within the same jurisdiction. *Id.* (citing syl. pt. 5, *Wanstreet*, 166 W. Va. 523, 276 S.E.2d 205).

1. Subjective test

Petitioner fails to address, let alone demonstrate, that his sentence shocks the conscience, and thus fails to establish entitlement to relief. Additionally, because of Petitioner's lengthy criminal history and demonstrated inability to conform his behavior to the law, a recidivist life sentence does not shock the conscience or offend the purpose of the recidivist statute. See Suppl. App.⁵

The primary purpose of our recidivist statutes is "to deter felony offenders, meaning persons who have been convicted and sentenced previously on a penitentiary offense, from committing subsequent felony offenses." *State v. Norwood*, 242 W. Va. 149, 157, 832 S.E.2d 75, 83 (2019) (quoting syl. pt. 3, *State v. Jones*, 187 W. Va. 600, 420 S.E.2d 736 (1992)). "The statute is directed at persons who persist in criminality after having been convicted and sentenced once or twice, as the case may be, on a penitentiary offense." *Id.* To determine if a sentence shocks the conscience, this Court should consider all the circumstances surrounding the offense, the information contained in the presentence investigation report, and findings made by the circuit court. *Phillips*, 199 W. Va. at 513, 485 S.E.2d at 682.

Here, the PSI reflects Petitioner's long criminal history beginning in 1996 and continuing steadily to the instant offenses in January 2020. Suppl. App. 8-13. Petitioner has been convicted of eight felony offenses, ten misdemeanor offenses, and numerous citations, including but not limited to driving under the influence, escape, grand and petit larceny, possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance, breaking and entering, and attempts to commit a felony. *Id.*

⁵ Because the full scope of Respondent's criminal history is relevant, Respondent has moved to permit the filing of a Supplemental Appendix.

Petitioner's string of offenses leading to the current convictions further demonstrate his flagrant disregard of the law. Given that Petitioner's criminal conduct spans nearly twenty-five years and punishment has not yet deterred him from committing additional crimes, a recidivist life sentence does not shock the conscience.

2. *Wanstreet* test

a. Nature of the offense and comparison with punishment of other offenses in West Virginia.

When reviewing the appropriateness of a recidivist life sentence, this Court gives initial emphasis to the nature of the triggering offense and whether the prior offenses involved actual or threatened violence and, therefore, justify application of the recidivist statute. Syl. pt. 11, *Hoyle*, 242 W. Va. 599, 836 S.E.2d 817. Petitioner's triggering felony convictions in 20-F-33 include three counts of breaking and entering a building other than a dwelling; three counts of grand larceny; three counts of destruction of property (a misdemeanor), and one count of attempt to commit a felony. App. 278-80.

Petitioner points to a number of cases falling on both sides of the coin of offenses deemed violent or carrying an inherent threat of violence. Pet'r's Br. 13. Recently, however, this Court found that a recidivist life sentence predicated on convictions of burglary, grand larceny, breaking and entering and felony destruction of property was not unconstitutionally disproportionate. *State v. Blackburn*, No. 19-0962, 2021 WL 1232088, at *1 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Mar. 2, 2021) (memorandum decision). It explained that "burglary and grand larceny [are] crimes that by their very nature involve[] the threat of harm or violence to innocent persons." *Id.* at *3 (citing *State v. Housden*, 184 W. Va. 171, 175, 399 S.E.2d 882, 886 (1990)). In so holding, the Court was clear that the imposition of a life recidivist sentence for burglary and grand larceny does "not violate the proportionality doctrine nor [does] it constitute cruel and unusual punishment as prohibited by the

West Virginia Constitution and the United States Constitution.” *Housden*, 184 W. Va. at 175, 399 S.E.2d at 886; *see also State v. Wills*, No. 16-1199, 2017 WL 5632127, at *2 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Nov. 22, 2017) (memorandum decision) (affirming a recidivist life sentence predicated on a history of numerous convictions, including convictions of grand larceny, conspiracy to commit grand larceny, and driving under the influence). Like *Blackburn*, the facts in the present case support the assumption that a threat of violence existed because Petitioner broke into businesses at night, where either security or an employee could have been present or could have—and did—interrupt Petitioner’s criminal activity. *See, e.g.*, App. 70-71.

Added to the threat of violence posed by the triggering offenses, the predicate convictions also included offenses recognized as violent or carrying a threat of violence: one felony offense of possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance, marijuana; one count of felony conspiracy to commit a felony; two counts of the felony offense of breaking and entering a building other than a dwelling, App. 252-56, 303-53; two felony offense of driving while license revoked for DUI, third offense; and two felony offenses of attempt to commit a felony, grand larceny, App 253-54, 283, 314. *See, e.g., Housden*, 184 W. Va. 171, 399 S.E.2d 882 (affirming recidivist life sentence where offenses included grand larceny and burglary); *Blackburn*, 2021 WL 1232088, at *3 (affirming recidivist life sentence predicated on grand larceny and burglary); *State v. Harris*, 226 W. Va. 471, 702 S.E.2d 603 (2010) (upholding recidivist life sentence on convictions for delivery of controlled substances, aiding and abetting, conspiracy, and sexual assault); *Daye v. McBride*, 222 W. Va. 17, 658 S.E.2d 547 (2017) (upholding recidivist life sentence predicated on offenses involving controlled substances); *but see State v. Kilmer*, 240 W. Va. 185, 808 S.E.2d 867 (2017) (reversing recidivist sentence on convictions of felony offense of driving while license revoked for driving under the influence does not involve actual or threatened violence).

In addition to the predicate offenses included in the recidivist information, Petitioner has additional convictions of offenses that involve violence or the threat of violence. Petitioner was convicted of the felony offense of “escape” in 2002. Suppl. App. 12. Although this Court has not specified whether “escape” from law enforcement carries a risk of violence, in *Norwood* this Court determined that “evading police” is an offense that “clearly carries with it the risk of violence.” 242 W. Va. at 158, 832 S.E.2d at 84. Because “escape” likewise demonstrates an offender’s determination to evade custody, it, too, carries an inherent risk of violence.

Petitioner was convicted of DUI in 2001, and “[t]he dangers inherent in driving on the public streets while under the influence of an intoxicant are obvious.” *Wills*, No. 16-1199, 2017 WL 5632127, at *3 (citing *Appleby*, 213 W. Va. at 516, 583 S.E.2d at 813). “[O]perating an automobile while under the influence is reckless conduct that places the citizens of this State at great risk of serious physical harm or death.” *Id.* (internal quotations and citation omitted). Accordingly, this Court has had “little trouble in finding that driving under the influence is a crime of violence supporting imposition of a recidivist sentence.” *Id.* The Court, “given petitioner’s numerous prior crimes, including these crimes of violence,” it found no error in the imposition of a recidivist sentence. *Id.* So, too, should it uphold the recidivist life sentence here.

b. Legislative purpose behind the punishment

Next, the Legislature has “substantive power to define crimes and prescribe punishments.” *State ex rel. Lorenzetti v. Sanders*, 235 W. Va. 353, 358, 774 S.E.2d 19, 24 (2015) (citing syl. pt. 3, *State v. Sears*, 196 W. Va. 71, 468 S.E.2d 324 (1996)); see, e.g., *Helm*, 463 U.S. at 290 (noting deference of courts to legislatures’ authority to define crimes and punishment). The legislature’s primary purpose in enacting the recidivist statute is “to deter felony offenders, meaning persons who have been convicted and sentenced previously on a penitentiary offense, from committing subsequent felony offenses.” Syl. pt. 5, *Norwood*, 242 W. Va. 149, 832 S.E.2d 75 (quoting syl.

pt. 3, *Jones*, 187 W. Va. 600, 420 S.E.2d 736). “The statute is directed at persons who persist in criminality after having been convicted and sentenced once or twice, as the case may be, on a penitentiary offense.” *Id.*

Petitioner exemplifies the reason the West Virginia legislature enacted the recidivist statute. He has a criminal history spanning his entire adult life, and despite multiple terms of imprisonment and home confinement, *see* Suppl. App. 8-13, Petitioner remains unable or unwilling to comply with the law. A recidivist life sentence was the natural consequence of Petitioner’s habitual criminality.

c. A recidivist life sentence predicated on grand larceny and breaking and entering aligns with punishment in other jurisdictions.

Lastly, the recidivist life sentence also is commensurate with other jurisdictions. *See, e.g., Rummel v. Estelle*, 445 U.S. 263, 263 (1980) (affirming the recidivist life sentence imposed upon petitioner in Texas following convictions of fraudulent use of a credit card, uttering, and obtaining money by false pretenses did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments); *Glasscock v. State*, 570 S.W.2d 354 (1978) (affirming recidivist life sentence predicated on grand larceny and burglary).

Petitioner has not and cannot satisfy either the subjective or objective assessment of the triggering and predicate offenses. The circuit court, therefore, neither erred nor abused its discretion in sentencing Petitioner to a recidivist life sentence.

III. Petitioner’s facial challenge to the constitutionality of West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 (2020) is not properly before the Court because Petitioner lacks standing to pursue it.

A. Standard of Review

“The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law which this Court reviews *de novo*.” Syl. pt. 2, *James*, 227 W. Va. 407, 710 S.E.2d 98 (quoting syl. pt. 1, *State v. Rutherford*, 223 W.

Va. 1, 672 S.E.2d 137 (2008)). Nonetheless, “[w]hen the constitutionality of a statute is questioned every reasonable construction of the statute must be resorted to by a court in order to sustain constitutionality, and any doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment.” Syl. pt. 3, *Willis v. O’Brien*, 151 W. Va. 628, 153 S.E.2d 178 (1967).

B. Because West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 (2020) does not apply to Petitioner, he lacks standing to challenge its constitutionality.

Petitioner mounts a facial challenge to the constitutionality of West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 (2020), asserting that the “broad categories of offenses risks disproportional punishment” and violates the state and federal prohibitions on cruel and unusual punishment. Pet’r’s Br. 16-18.⁶ Petitioner identifies some enumerated qualifying offenses in West Virginia Code § 61-11-18(a) (2020) that he believes “cannot constitutionally be used to enhance a defendant’s sentence.” Pet’r’s Br. 17. But West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 (2020) does not apply to Petitioner and he, thus, lacks standing to challenge its constitutionality.

“Standing” refers to one’s ability to bring a lawsuit based upon a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy. *State ex rel. Dodrill Heating & Cooling, LLC v. Akers*, 246 W. Va. 463, 874 S.E.2d 265 (2022). Litigants may only challenge the constitutionality of a statute insofar as it affects them. *Harshbarger v. Gainer*, 184 W. Va. 656, 659, 403 S.E.2d 399, 402 (1991); *Zaleski v. W. Va. Mut. Ins. Co.*, 224 W. Va. 544, 552, 687 S.E.2d 123, 131 (2009) (reiterating that “courts [will not] resolve mere academic disputes or moot questions or render mere advisory opinions which are unrelated to actual controversies.”).

Standing is comprised of three elements: First, the party attempting to establish standing must have suffered an “injury-in-fact”—an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a)

⁶ Petitioner again fails to include a single citation to the record demonstrating when and how this issue was presented and resolved in the lower court.

concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent and not conjectural or hypothetical. Syl. pt. 3, *Dodrill*, 246 W. Va. 463, 874 S.E.2d 265. *Second*, there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct forming the basis of the lawsuit. *Id.* Third, it must be likely that the injury will be redressed through a favorable decision of the court. None of these factors are satisfied in the present case because the statute Petitioner challenges—West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 (2020)—does not apply to him.

The 2000 amendments to West Virginia Code § 61-11-18, *not* the 2020 amendments to West Virginia Code § 61-11-18, apply to Petitioner. “The statutory penalty in effect at that time of the defendant’s criminal conduct shall be applied to the defendant’s conviction(s).” Syl. pt. 3, *Horton*, 248 W. Va. 41, 886 S.E.2d 509. Petitioner committed the criminal offenses giving rise to these proceedings in January 2020. App. 31-36. Because West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 (2020) was not in effect until June 4, 2020, the prior version of this statute is applicable to Petitioner. West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 (2000), unlike the 2020 amended version, does *not* contain the list of qualifying offenses with which Petitioner takes issue.⁷ Compare W. Va. Code § 61-11-18 (2000) with W. Va. Code § 61-11-18 (2020). Because Petitioner committed the offenses in this case approximately five months before the effective date of West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 (2020), the list of enumerated offenses does not apply to him.

Because the 2020 amendments to Section 61-11-18 do not apply to Petitioner, Petitioner has not suffered an injury-in-fact; there is no causal connection between “an injury” to Petitioner

⁷ It also has been upheld as facially constitutional. See, e.g., *U.S. ex rel. Clark v. Skeen*, 126 F. Supp. 24 (N.D. W. Va. 1954) (West Virginia Habitual Criminal Act is constitutional); Syl. pt. 1, *Wanstreet*, 166 W. Va. 523, 276 S.E.2d 205 (“[T]he habitual criminal statute, W. Va. Code, 61-11-18, and the enhanced sentence provided thereunder, are not per se violative of the Equal Protection or Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clauses of the West Virginia or the United States Constitutions.”).

and West Virginia Code § 61-11-18 (2020); and the nonexistent injury will not be redressed through a favorable decision of this Court. Petitioner, therefore, lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of Section 61-11-18 (2020). This claim fails because as “[this Court] frequently ha[s] said before, [it] cannot issue an advisory opinion with respect to a hypothetical controversy.” *State ex rel. Perdue v. McCuskey*, 242 W. Va. 474, 479 n.13, 836 S.E.2d 441, 446 n.13 (2019) (citing *State ex rel. ACF Indus., Inc. v. Vieweg*, 204 W. Va. 525, 533 n.13, 514 S.E.2d 176, 184 n.13 (1999)).

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the June 1, 2023, Order of the Circuit Court of Jackson County.